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JUDGMENT

INTRODUCTION

1. This is a cartel damages claim.

27 Before me have been applications by the Defendants: challenging the Court’s
jurisdiction and seeking to strike out the claim or summary judgment on it in

favour of the Defendants.

3. - There are two sets of Defendants. The first set comprises the “Prysmian
Defendants”, namely D1 to D5 and D8. The claims against D6 and D7 have
been discontinued. The second set comprises the “NKT Defendants”. The

claim against D14 has been discontinued.

4. The live Prysmian Defendants have been represented before me by Mr Moser

QC, Ms Howard and Ms Banks.



5 The live NKT Defendants have been represented before me by Ms Denetriou

QC and Mr Armitage.

6. The Respondent Claimants have been represented before me by Mr Robertson

QC and Ms Abram. The applications are resisted.
Cartel

7 On 02 April 2014 the European Commission (“the Commission”) found that 11
producers of power cables had been parties to an illegal market sharing cartel
which was almost global in scope (“the Power Cables Cartel”). The power
cables in point were submarine and: ﬁnderéfouﬁd power cables and associated
products, wotks and services (“Power Cables P&S”). I shall call that finding

“the Decision”.

8. A summary of the Decision was then produced by the Commission. It appeared
in the Official Journal of the European Union on 17 September 2014. In
summary, at 2.1 it described the products concerned as:

“The cartel arrangements covered all types of underground
power cables of 110 kV and above and submarine power cables
of 33 kV and above including all products, works and services
sold to the customer related to the sale of power cables when
such sales are part of a power cable project.”

At 2.3 was the “Summary of the infringement™;

“(6) The main producers participated in a network of
multilateral and bilateral meetings and contacts aimed
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at restricting competition  for underground -and
submarine power cable projects in specific territories
by agreeing on market and customer allocation and
thereby to distort the normal competitive process.

From February 1999 onwards, the main producers
allocated projects according to the geographic region or
customers. In addition, they exchanged information
on prices and other commercially sensitive information
in order to ensure that the designated power cable
supplier ot ‘allottee’ would make the lowest price while
the other companies would either submit a higher offer
or refrain from bidding or submit an offer that was
unattractive to the customer. Reportirig obligations
were established to allow monitoring of the agreed
allocations, Finally, additional practices were
implemented to reinforce the cartel such as the
collective refusal to supply accessories or technical
assistance to certain competitors in order to ensure the
agreed allocations.

The cartel had two main configurations:

(a) On the one hand, it had as its objective the
allocation of territories and customers. This
configuration is referred to as the ‘A/R cartel
configuration’. Pursuant to this configuration
Japanese and Korean producers refrained from
competing for projects in the Europea'n home
territory while European producers would stay
out of Japan and Korea, They also allocated
ptojects in most of the rest of the world and
madde use of a quota arrangement for a certain
period of time,

(b) On the other hand, the ‘European cartel

configuration’ involved the allocation of
territories and customers by the European
producers for projects inside the European
home territory or allocated to the European
producers.”



10.

11.

12,

The summary at 2.4 identified legal entitles held liable for indicated periods for
a single and continuous infringement of Article 101 of the Treaty {on the
functioning of the European Union) and Article 53 of the EEA Agreement.

Such entities were “addressees”.

The Prysmian addresses are D1 and D8. D8 was an addressee for the peridd 18
February 1999 to 28 January 2009. D7 was an addressee as parent of D8 for
the period 18 February 1999 to 28 July 2005. D1 was an addressee as successor
parent of D8 for the period 29 July 2005 to 28 January 2009 (as was its parent,
“the Goldman Sachs Group, Inc”).  In relation to the former such period, D8
with its then parent were held Iiable jointly and severally to a fine of EUR
67,310,000. In relation to the latter-period, D8 and D1 (and its parent) were
held jqiiltly and severally to a fine of EUR 37,303,000. I understand that the
discontinuance against D7 may have resulted from the fact that it was not part

of the Prysmian group.

D10 was an add:essee, as was D9 as its parent, for the period 3 July 2002 to 17
February 2006. They were found liable jointly and severally to a fine of EUR
3,887,000. I understand the discontinuance against D14 was because it was not

part of the NKT Group at the relevant time.

On 16 and 17 June 2014 respectively the NKT and Prysmian addressees filed

applications for annulment of the Decision with the General Court of the



13.

14.

European Union. T have been told that such applications have been heard but
have yet to be determined. 'In the meanwhile, the Decision stands. Materially,
if it becomes final, its addressees will be jointly and severally liable in damages

for any losses shown to have been caused by for Power Cable Cartel.

On 8 November 2017 the Comission pliblished a provisional non-confidential
version of the Commission Decision. In Recital 66 it recorded:

“The main producers of UG and SM power cables participated

in a nétwork of multilateral and bilateral meetings and contacts

aimed at restricting competition for SM and UG power cable

projects in specific’ territories by agreeing on market and

customer allocation and thereby to -distort the normal
competitive process.”

At Recitals 692 to 706 the Decision records principles relating to addressees.
Subjects of EU competition rules are “undertakings”, a concept which is not
identical with that of corporate legal personality (Recital 693). EU competition
law recognises that different companies belonging to the same group form an
economic unit and therefore an “undertaking” (within the meaning of Articles
101 and 102 of the Treaty), if the companies concerned do not determine
independently. their own conduct on the market (Recital 696). According to
settled case law of the Court of Justice and of the General Court a parent
company that owns 1 00% (or almost 100%) of a subsidiary has the ability to
exercise decisive control over such subsidiary. In such a case, there exists a

rebuttable presumption that the parent also in fact exercises that control without



15..

16.

17.

the need for the Commission to adduce further evidence on the actual exercise
of control (the “parental liability presumption”) (Recital 697):

“Where such exercise’ of decisive influence cannot be
presumed it has to be demonstrated on the basis of factual
evidence, including in particular the management powers that
the parent companies have on the subsidiary.” (Recital 698)

Recital 707 states:

“Applying the above principles, this Decision shall be
addressed to those legal entities whose representatives
participated in cartel meetings and their performance of anti-
competitive contacts with competitors. In addition, this
Decision shall be addressed to the parent companies of those
legal entities in as far as it is presumed or shown that they
‘exercised decisive influence over the commercial policy of
their wholly owned subsidiaries.”

Recital 708 records:
“The names and the employment records of individuals.
relevant for this Decision are provided in Annex II to this
Decision.”

That annex is redacted, in the provisional non-confidential version of the

Decision.

The Decision provides as its Article 1 that a number of undertakings infringed
Article 101 of the Treaty and Article 53 of the EEA Agreement by participating,

for the periods indicated, in a single and continuous infringement in the (extra)

‘high voltage underground and/or submarine power cable sector.



18.

19.

Paragraph 4 of Article 1 refers to NKT as D9 and D10 for the period from 3

July 2002 to 17 February 2006. Recital 594 of the Decision addressed why

NKT was considered a fringe player as opposed to'a core or middle player (such

ag, inferentially, Prysmian).

Paragraph 5 of Article 1 refers to the relevant Pi'ysmian defendants, thus DS,
for the period 18 February 1999 to 28 January 2009, and D1 as its parent from
29 July 2005 to 28 January 2009, It also referred to D7 for the earlier period 18
February 1999 to 28 July 2005 but as I have noted D7 was not a Prysmian

Defendant.

This Claim

20.

21.

This claim was issued on 6 March 2017. The Particulars of Claim (“POC”)

bear that date.

Cl is incorporated under the laws of Sweden. It is an energy company wholly
owned by the Swedish state. Its group is one of Europe’s largest generators of
electricity and one of the largest producers of heat. The other Cs are either
wholly, owned subsidiaries of C1 or companies in which C1 has a substantial
shareholding. As Mr Robertson QC submits in relation to a witness statement
of Mr Nielsen, the Vattenfall groups’ production and sale of electricity and heat

comes from a number of sources including wind power. It supplies energy to
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six main European markets including the UK. In relation to wind power, it
operates numerous wind turbines grouped into windfarms either on-shore or
off-:shore. In context, as Mr Robertson submits in reliance on Mr Nielsen,
power cables are a crucial part of windfarms. They are used to connect
individual wind turbines in a windfarm to carry power from off-shore and on-
shore windfarmis to an on-shore electricity grid and to distribute power on shore.
When a windfarm is developed, the power cables themselves are generally
provided as part of a bundle of products, works and services. In addition to the
manufacture and -delivery of the cables themselves; the bundle of goods and.
services apparently normally include design of the power cables, supply of parts
and tools (“accessories”) that are required to install and connect the power
cables, the supply of spare accessories and length of cable as back-up and
sometimes also installation of the power cables. Mr Robertson also notes that
where, as is common in large projects, additional work supplies are needed as
the project progresses, they may be added to the original contract or supplied

on an ad hoc basis under a separate contractual arrangement.

The Prysmian Defendants include D3 which is incorporated under the laws of
England and Wales. Its registered office is in Eastleigh (SO50 6YU). The
NKT Defendants include D12, which is also incorporated under the laws of

England and Wales with a registered office in Harrogate (HG3 1GY).



23.  Neither D3 nor D12 are addressees or ment_ionéd in the 2014 summary of the
Decision or the 2017 redacted version of the Decision. Under the “Liability”

section of the POC it is pleaded at Paragraph 47:

“By participating in and/or being involved in and/or selling
products' knowingly produced as a result of the Cartel
Arrangements and/or being engaged in acts of implementation
of the Cartel Arrangements, each of the Defendants infringed
Article 81(1) of the Treaty establishing the European
Community (“Article 81 EC”) and Article 101(1) of the Treaty
on the Functioning of the European Union (“Article 101.
TFEU™) and/or breached the statutory duty imposed by Article
81 EC and Article 101 TFEU and/or through Section 2(1) of
the European Communities Act 1972.”

24.  AtParagraph 51 of the POC it is pleaded:
“The Claimants reserve the right to amend these Particulars of
Claim to give further particulars of the infringement of Article
81 EC, Article 101 TFEU and the Chapter 1 prohibition and

the involvement of the Defendants and each of them following
publication of the Decision and/or disclosure.”

25.  C8, C9 and C10 are each incorporated in England and Wales and each involved
in particular off-shore windfarms off the coast of the UK. C1 to C7 are Swedish
companies, C11 and C12 are Danish companies, C13 and C14 are German

companies and C15 is a Dutch company.
26. Inrelation to causation of loss, Cs refer to the need for full disclosure from each

D (POC paragraph 55). The POC gives particulars of “cartel overcharge losses™

(supplies by cartelists), umbrella losses (purchasés from third parties who did

10



27.

28.

29.

30.

not implement the Cartel Arrangements, defined in paragraph 1 of the PoC as
“the defendants’ and others’ unlawful agreements and/or concerted practices”,

but where the effect of the Cartel Arrangements was to inflate prices in the

‘market) and charges in an overhang period (up to two years after the cartel.

period).’

- The POC estimated loss at nearly €36 million and also has sought compound

interest,

The estimated loss of nearly €36 million (Annex B to the POC) sets out relevant
purchases by Cs from cartelists or group members during the cartel period and
the overhang period and purchases affected by the urnbrella overcharge. The

current estimate of total losses is over €45 million.

On 5 June 2017 each of the Prysmian and NKT Defendants issued the current

applications.

The applicatiori' of the then live Prysmian Defendants sought summary

judgment in favour of D3 against Cs pu;éuant to CPR 24; alternatively a strike-

out of the claims against D3 pursuant to. CPR 3.4(2)(2). Alternatively it sought
pursuant to CPR Part 11 a declaration that the Court does not have jurisdiction
over any of the claims against D4, D5 and D6 and/or no jurisdiction in relation

to the cl'ajms‘ by C1 to C7 and C11 to C15 (they are not UK companies) against

11



31.

D1, D2 and D8 (the Italian Prysr_nian Defendants). The application accepts that
jurisdiction can be established against the Prysmian Italian _Defendants in
respect of supplies made to the UK Claimants in respect of losses suffered in
the UK (for the purpose (I)f Article 7(2) of Regulation 125/2012 (the “Recast
Brussels Regulation” or “IiBR”)). The summary position of D3 was that
though domiciled in England and Wales there was no arguable basis for a claim
that it had participated in the alleged Cartel Arrangements or was engaged in
acts of implementing the alleged Cartel Arrangements. The application makes
the point that if D3 cannot be relied upon as an “anchor” Defendant under
Article 8(1) RBR, other non-UK domiciled Prysmian Defendants could not be

sued in this Court.

The application of the NKT Defendants seeks an order that the claim against

D12 be struck out pursuant to Rule 3.4(2)(a) of the CPR and/or that surﬁmary

judgment be granted in favour of D12 pursuant to CPR Rﬁle.24.2(a)(i) and Rule

24.2(b). It asserts in summary that the POC disclosed no reasonable groul_lds :
for bringing a claim against NKT UK alternatively that the claims against it
had no real prospect of success and there was no other compelling reason why
they should be disposed of at trial. The application also seeks a declaration on
behalf of the other “EU NKT Defendants” under the RBR. It had been asserted
that neither Article 8(1) nor Article 7(2) of the RBR provides a basis for

departing from the usual rule under Article 4(1) of that Regulaﬁon that persons

12



domiciled in an EU Member State should be sued in a Court of the Member

State concerned.

Civil Procedure Rules (“CPR”)

32.

33.

34,

35.

CPR Rule 3.4(ii)(a) provides for striking out a statement of case which

“discloses no reasonable grounds”. Itis sufficient for my purposes that I should

‘be satisfied that the case is unwinnable against D3 and D12 (with consequences

where other Ds are concerned). Mr Moser and Ms Demetriou do not contend

that the rule adds to their cases for summary judgment under CPR 24,

Rule 24(a)(i) provides for summary judgment against a claimant when the Court

considers that the claimant Kas “no real prospects of success on the claim.”

Each of Mr Moser, Ms Demetriou and Mr Robertson has cited first instance
summaries of relevant summary judgment points applicable to the case then

before the Court.

Mr Moser cites from a decision of Lewison J (as he then was) in Easyair Ltd
{t/a Openair} v. Opal Telecom Ltd [2009] EW]E\[C 339 (a case which flowed
from disconnections of sims from a phone netwbrk). At Paragraph 15 Léwison
J observed:

“The correct approach on applications by defendants is, in my
judgment, as follows:

13
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(i)

(iii)

(iv)

V)

(vi)

(vii)

The court must consider whether the claimant has a
‘realistic’ as opposed to a ‘fanciful’ prospect of-
success: Swain v. Hillman [2001] 2 All ER 91,

A ‘realistic’ claim is one that carries some degree of
conviction.  This means a claim that is more than
metely arguable: EDM & F Man Liquid Products v.
Patel [2003] EWCA Civ 472 at [8];

In reaching its conclusion the court must not conduct a
‘mini-trial’: Swain v. Hillman;

This does not mean that the court must take at face
value and without analysis everything that a claimant
says in his statements. before the court. In some cases
it may be clear that there is no real substance in factual
assertions made, particularly if contradicted by
contemporaneous documents: EDM & F Man Liquid
Products v. Patel at [10];

However, in reaching its conclusion the court must take
into account not only the evidence actually placed
before it on the application for summary judgment, but
also the evidence that can reasonably be expected to be
available at trial: Royal Brompton Hospital NHS Trust
v. Hammond (No.5) [2001] EWCA Civ 550;

Although a case may turn out at trial not to be really
complicated, it does not follow that it should be decided
without the fuller investigation into the facts at trial
than is possible or permissible on summary judgment.
Thus the court should hesitate about making a final
decision without a trial, even ‘where there is no obvious
conflict of fact at the time of the application, where
reasonable grounds exist for believing that a fuller
investigation into the facts of the case would add to or
alter the evidence available to a trial judge and so affect
the outcome of the case: Doncaster Pharmaceuticals
Group Ltd v. Bolton Pharmaceutical Co 100 Ltd [2007]
FSR 63;

'On the other hand, it is not uncommon for an

application under Part 24 to give rise to a short point of
law or comstruction, and, if the court is satisfied that it
has before it all the evidence necessary for the proper

14



36.

37.

determination of the question and that the parties have
had an adequate opportunity to address it in argument,
it should grasp the nettle and decide it. The reason is
quite simple: if the respondent’s case is bad in law, he
will in truth have ne real prospect of succeeding on his
claim or successfully defending the claim against him,
as the case may be. Similarly, if the applicant’s case is
bad in law, the sooner that is determined the better. If
it is possible to show by evidence that although
material in the form of documents or oral evidence that
would put the documents in another light is not
currently before the court, such material is likely to.
-exist and can be expected to be available at trial, it
would be wrong to give summary judgment because
there would be a real, as opposed to a fanciful, prospect
.of success. However, it is not enough simply to argue
that the case should be allowed to go to trial because
something may turn up which would have a bearing on
the question of construction:” ICI Chemicals &
Polymers Ltd v. TTE Training Ltd {2007] EWCA Civ
725 '

The case before Lewison J did involve the construction of a contract and his
point (Vii) may have limited relevance on the applications before me. But his

other points may have real point on these applications.

Ms Demetriou cites from the Qecision of Roth J in SEL-Imperial Ltd v. The
British Standards Institution [2010] EWHC 854.(Ch) at paras.16-18. There
Roth J cited from a summary by Lewison I of relevant points in The Federal
Republic of Nigeria v. Santolina Investment Corp and Ors [2007] EWHC 437
(Ch) at 4. He cited six points there made by Lewison J. which are the first six
points that he also made in the Openair case which I have cited. Roth7 did not

cite a seventh point made by Lewison J in the St Helena Investment case which

15



related to allegations of fraud or dishonesty as not relevant to the case before
RothJ. But Roth J did however continue at 16;

“But I would add, with regard in particular to competition law
claims (or defences), that where the area of law is in the course
of development the court should be cautious ‘to assume that it
is beyond argument with real prospect of success that the
existing case law will not be extended or modified’ so as to
encompass the basis of argument advanced; per Morritt V-C
“in Intel Corp v. VIA Technologies Inc [2002] EWCA Civ 1905,
-[2003] FSR 33 at [32]. Such an extension might involve a
reference to the European Court of Justice under Article 267
TFEU (formerly Article 234 -EC) but that will not be
appropriate at this stage since, depending on how the facts may
be found, a decision on that point may prove unnecessary for
resolution of the case:

17.  Moreover, it is impottant that competition claims are
pleaded properly. To contend that a party has infriniged
competition law involves a serious allegation of breach
of a quasi- public law, which can indeed-lead to the
imposition of financial penalties as well as civil
liability. A defendant faced with such a claim is
entitled to know what specific conduct or agreement is
complained of and how that it is alleged to. violate the
law. As Laddie J observed in BHB Enterprises plc v.
Victor 'Chandler (International) Ltd [2005] EWHC
1074 (Ch), [2005] EU LR 924 at [43]

‘These are notoriously burdensome
allegations, frequently leading to extensive
evidence,  including expert reports from
economists and accountants. - The recent
history of cases in which such allegations
have been raised illustrate that they can lead
to lengthy and expensive trials.’

Subsequent experience only reinforces the accuracy of
that observation.

18.  This is not to adopt an over-technical approach to
pleadings. Itis consistent with the overriding objective
to enable the case to be dealt with expeditiously and
fairly. It is only through the clear articulation of each
party’s position in its statement of case, with

16
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39.

appropriate factual detail, that the other side can know
what case it has to meet and what issues any experts
have to address, and that the court can effectively
exercise its case management powers.”

Ms Demetriou also cites.from Briggs J (as he then was) in Lexi-Holdings (in
administration) v. Pannone & Partners [2009] EWHC 2590 (Ch) when he
observed: “It is necessary to do more than say that some evidence currently
unavailable might turn up in time for the trial” 10 defeat a summary judgment

application.

Mr Robertson cites the summary by Simon J (as he then was) of the principles
relevant to strike-out and summary judgment applications in Arcadia Group
Brands v. Visa Inc [2014] EWHC 3561 (Comm) at 19. That summary was
not questioned or affected by an appeal [2015] EWCA Civ 883, [2015] Bus
LR 1362. Afier emphasising at points (1) and (2) the points about the claimant
needing to have a “realistic” as opposed to a “fanciful” prospect of success and
that a “realistic” prospect is one that carries some degree of conviction, not one
that is merely arguable, Simon J continued:

“(3) The court must avoid conducting a ‘mini-trial’ without
the benefit of disclosure and oral evidence ...

(4)  The court should avoid being drawn into an attempt to
resolve conflicts of fact which are normally resolved by
a tfial process...

(5) In reaching its conclusion, the court must take into
account not only the evidence actually placed before it
on the application for summary judgment, but the
evidence that can reasonably be expected to be
available at trial ...

17
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41.

(6)

(M

®

Some disputes on the law or the construction of a
document are suitable for summary determination since

(if it is bad in law) the sooner it is determined the better

On the other hand, the court should heed the
warning of Lord Collins in 4K Investments CJSC v.
Kyrgyz Mobil Tel Ltd [20111 UK PC 7, [2012] 1 WLR
1804 at [84] that it may not be appropriate to decide
difficult questions of law on an interlocutory
application where the facts may determine how those
legal issues will present themselves for determination
and/or the legal issues are in an area that requires.
detailed argument and mature consideration...

The overall burden of proof remains on the Defendants,
*... to establish, if it can, the negative proposition that
the [Claimants] have no real prospect of success (in the
sense mentioned above) and that there is no other
reason for a trial”, see Apvodedo NV v. Collins [2008]
EWHC 775 (Ch), Henderson J at [32]. '

So far as Part 24.2(b) is concerned, there will be a
compelling reason . for trial where ‘there are
circumstances that ought to be investigated’, see Miles
v. Bull [1969] 1 QB 258 at 266A. In that case, Megarry
J was satisfied that there were grounds for scrutinising
what appeared on its face to be a legitimate transaction

3

Simon J’s points at (7) and (8) pick up on Rule 24.2(b): “There is no other
compelling reason why the case or issue should be disposed of at a trial.” Ido
niot understand Mr Robertson for Cs to raise on these applications a Part 24.2(b)

“other compelling reason” why the matter should be disposed of at a trial.

CPR Part 11 provides for a procedure for disputing the Court’s jurisdiction.
CPR 11(1) enables a defendant to apply to the Court for an order declaring that

it has no jurisdiction. CPRt_11(2) provides for such a defendant to file an

18
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43.

Acknowledgement of Service. CPR 11(4) ‘provides'for the application to be
made within 14 days of filing the Acknowle&gement of Service and for it to be
supported ‘by evidence. CPR 11(6) providés for the order containing a
declaration that the Court has no juris_dictidn to make other provisions including
setting aside the Claim Form. -As I have noted, the Prysmian Defendants’
application seeks a declaration under Part 11.  As Iunderstand the submissions
of Mr Moser, the entitlement to such a declaration would in effect flow from
the summary judgment that is sought. In other words, if there is no realistic
prospect of success in the claims against D3 and D12 (“anchor defendants™) or
one of them (see 52 below), as a'matter of principle or discretion the Court

should not have jurisdiction to deal with claims against the non-UK domiciled

‘defendants.

Under Article 4(1) of the Recast Brussels Regulation, it is provided that:
“Subject to this Regulation, persbns domiciled in a Member

State shall, whatever their nationality, be sued in the courts of
that Member State.”

Article 7 provides that a person domiciled in a Member State may be sued in
another Member State including:
“(2) In matters relating to tort, delict or quasi-delict, in the

courts for the place where the harmful event occurred
or may occur.”

19



44.  The three Italian Prysmian Defendants (D1, D2 and D8) accept that the Court
has jurisdiction over certain claims brought against them by two English
incorporated and resident companies (the UK. Claimants, C8 and C10), claims
relevant to windfarms operated by them in the UK.  There is an alternative
argument raised by Cs that the English Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article
7(2) over the claims of the UK Claimants against all Prysmian Defen_cia.nts
because England is the place where the harmful event suffered by them

occurred.

45.  RBR Article 8 provides that:
“A person domiciled in a Member State may also be sued:

(1)  where he is one of a number of defendants, in the courts
for the place where -any one of .them is domiciled,
provided the claims are so closely connected that it is
expedient to hear and determine them together to avoid
the risk of irreconcilable judgments resulting from .
separate proceedings”. '

46.  Recital 15 to the RBR provides:

“The rules of jurisdiction should be highly predictable and
founded on the principle that jurisdiction is generally based on
the defendant’s domicile.  Jurisdiction should always be
-available on this ground save in a few well-defined situations
in which the subject-matter of the dispute or the autonomy of
.the parties warrants a different connecting factor.” -

To that end, Article 4(1) RBR establishes the general rule that a defendant

domiciled in a Member State should be sued in the Courts of that Member State.

20
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48.

Atrticles 7 and 8 are derogations from the general rule in favour of domicile.
Recital 16 to the RBR explains in relation to Article 8(1) that:

“In addition to the defendant’s domicile, there should be

alternative grounds of jurisdiction based on a close connection
between the court and the action in order to facilitate the sound
administration of justice. The existence of a close connection
should ensure legal certainty and avoid the possibility of the
defendant being sued in a court of a Member State which he
could not reasonably have foreseen.”

A special rule on jurisdiction, such as Art'icle'S(l), must be strictly interpreted

as a derogation from the -general principle in which jurisdiction is generally

‘based on a defendant’s domicile. . The CJEU in Reisch Montage AG v. Kiesel

Baumaschinen Handels GmbH [2007] IL PR 10 made these observations:

“23. In that regard it is settled case-law that those special
rules on jurisdiction must be strictly interpreted and
cannot be given an interpretation going beyond the
cases expressly envisaged by Regulation 44/2001 (see,
in relation to the Brussels Convention, Kronhofer v
Maier (C-168/02) [2004] E.C.R. 1-6009; [2004]
1.L.Pr.27 at [14] and the case law cited) .

24. It is for the national courts to interpret those rules
'h_aving regard for the principle of legal certainty ...

25.  That principle requires in: particular that the special
rules of jurisdiction be interpreted in such a way as to
enable a normally well-informed defendant reasonably

to foresee before which courts, other than those of the
State in which he is domiciled, he may be sued ...”

In Roche Nederland BV and Ors v. Primus, Goldenberg [2007] IL PR 9 the

CJEU expressed concerns that the extension of the special jurisdiction now

contained in Article 8(1) RBR to cases where there was no sufﬁcienﬂjr close
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50.

connection could undermine the predictability of the rules of jurisdiction and
legal certainty and encoﬁrage_the practice of forum shopping, which the RBR
and the Court have specifically sought to prevent (Roche Nederland at 37 &

38).

Mr Moser identifies CJEU case law which id_entify for the purposes of the close
connection needed by “Article 8(1) to extend jurisdiction, a “single. factual
situation” and “sufficient legal connection”. He submits that in the context of
a'single factual situation a minimum requirement is that it must be clear to a
defenidant that he may be sued as the co-defendant of an anchor defendant at a
Court in the place where the anchor deferidant is domiciled. A starting point
according to Mr Moser in relation to sufficient legal connection is whether it is
so close that the applicant could not be reasonably expected to seek to have the
claim decided by two Courts and the legal connection between the claims is so
close that inconsistencies between them would not be acceptable. Mr Moser
cites in particular from the opinion of AG Trstenjak in her opinion in Eva Maria

Painer v. Standard Verlags GmbH and Ors [2012] EC DR 6.

In Cartel Damages Claims (CDC) Hydrogéh' Peroxide SA v. Akzo Nobel NV
and others (Evonik Degussa GmbH and others intervening) [2015] QB 906
the CJEU was _considering‘a'referen'(;e of questions relating to a cartel damages
claim in the German Court:

“15.  Byits first question, the referring court asks, in essence,
whether [the predecessor = Article 8(1)] must be
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21,

interpreted as meaning that it may, under that
provision, be expedient to hear and determine

. applications together to avoid the risks of irreconcilable

judgments resulting from separate proceedings in the
case of an action for damages, and for disclosure in that
regard, brought jointly against undertakings which
have participated in different places and at different
times in a single and continuous infringement, as found
by the decision of the Commission, of the prohibition
of anti-competitive agreements, " decisions and
concerted practices provided for in EU law, even where
the applicant has withdrawn its action against the sole
co-defendant domiciled in the same State as the court
seised ...

The rule of jurisdiction laid down in [the predecessor
Article 8(1)] provides that a person may, where he is
one of a number of defendants, be sued in the courts for
the place where any one of them is domiciled, provided
the claims are so closely connected that it is expedient
to hear and determine them together to avoid the risk of
irreconcilable judgments resulting from separate

proceedings ...

That special rule, because it derogates from the
principle ... that jurisdiction is based on the
defendant’s domicile, must be strictly interpreted and
cannot be given an interpretation going beyond the
cases expressly envisaged by [the predecessor Article

8] ...

Therefore in order for [the predecessor Article 8 (1)] to
apply, it is necessary to ascertain whether, between
various claims brought by the same applicant against
various defendants there is a connection of such a kind’
that it is expedient to determine those actions together
in order to avoid the risk of irreconcilable judgments
resulting from separate proceedings ... In that regard,
in order for judgments to be regarded as irreconcilable,
it is not sufficient that there be a divergence in the
outcome of the dispute, but that divergence must also
arise in the context of the same situation of fact and law

The requirement that the same situation of fact and law
must arise is satisfied in circumstances such as those of
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25,

the case in the main proceedings. Despite the fact that
the defendants participated in the implementation of
the cartel at issue by concluding and performing
contracts under it, in different places and at different
times, according to [the decision] upon which the
claims in the main proceedings are based, the cartel
agreement . amounted to a single and continuous
infringement of Article 101 TFEU and Article 53 of the
EEA Agreement. That decision does not, however,

. determine the requirements for holding the defendants

liable in tort, jointly and severally as the case may be,
since this is to be determined by the national law of
each Member State. '

As regards, finally, the risk of irreconcilable judgments
resulting from separate proceedings, since the
requirements for holding those participating in an
unlawful cartel liable in tort may differ between the
various national laws, thefe would be a- risk of
irreconcilable judgments if actions were brought before
the courts of various Member States by a party

‘allegedly adversely affected by a cartel.

Nevertheless, the court points out that even in the case
where various laws are, by virtue of the rules of private
international law, of the court seised, applicable to the
actions for damages brought by [the applicant] against
the defendants, such a difference in legal basis does
not, in - itself, preclude the application of [the
predecessor Article 8(i)] ... provided that it was
foreseeable by the defendants that they might be sued

in the Member State where at least one of them is

domiciled ...

That latter condition is fulfilled in the case of a binding
decision of the Commission finding there to have been
a single infringement of EU law and, on the basis of
that finding, holding each participant liable for the loss
resultlng from the tornous actions of those participating
in the infringement.  In those circumstances, the
participants- could have expected to be sued in the
courts of .a Member State in which one of them is
domiciled.

It must therefore be considered that determining
separately actions for damages against several
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30.

undertakings domiciled in different Member States

‘which, contrary to EU competition law, part1c1pated in

a single and continuous cartel, may lead to
irreconcilable judgments within the meaning of [the
predecessor Article 8(1)].

That said, it remains to be considered to what extent the
applicant’s withdrawal of its action against the sole co-
defendant domiciled in the same Member State as the
court seized is capable of rendering the rule of
jurisdiction provided for in [the predecessor Article
8(1)] inapplicable.

According to settled case law, that rule cannot be
interpreted as allowing an applicant to make a claim
agamst a number of defendants for the sole purpose of
removing one of them from the jurisdiction of the
courts of the Member State in which that defendant is
domiciled ...

The court has nevertheless stated that, where claims
brought against various defendants are connected
within the meaning of [the predecessor Article 8(1)]
when the proceedings are instituted, the rule of
jurisdiction laid down in that provision is applicable
without there being any further need to establish
separately that the claims were not brought with the
sole object of ousting the jurisdiction of the courts of
the Member State where one of the defendants is

-domiciled ...

It follows that where, when proceedings are instituted,
claims are connected within the meaning of [the
predecessor Article 8(1)], the court seised of the case
can find that the rule of jurisdiction laid down in that
provision has potentially been circumvented only
where there is firm eviderce to support the conclusion
that the applicant artificially fulfilled, or prolonged the

“fulfilment of, that provision’s applicability.

In case in the main proceedings, some of the parties
allege that, before the action in the proceedings. was
brought, an out-of-court settlement was reached
between the applicant and Evonik Degussa, whose seat
is in Germany, and that the parties purposefully
delayed the formal conclusion of that settlement until
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proceedings had been instituted, for the sole purpose of
securing the jurisdiction of the court seised of the case
as against other defendants,

In order to be able to exclude the applicability of the
tule of jurisdiction laid down in [the predecessor
Article 8(1)] an- allegation of that nature 'must
nevertheless be supported by firm evidence that, at the
time the proceedings were instituted, the parties
concerned had colluded to artificially fulfil, or prolong
the fulfilment of| that provision’s applicability.

Although it is for the court seised with the case to assess
such evidence, it must nevertheless be made clear that
simply holding negotiations with a view to concluding
an out-of-court settlement does not in itself prove such
collusion. ~ However, it would be otherwise if it
transpired that such- a settlement had, in fact, been
concluded, but that where it had been concealed in
order to create the impression that the conditions of the
application of [the predecessor Article 8(1)] had been
fulfilled. |

In the light of the above, the answer to the first question
is that [the predecessor Article 8 (1)] must be
interpreted as meaning that the rule on centralisation of
jurisdiction in the case of several defendants, as
established in that provision, can apply in the case of
an action for damages, and for disclasure in that regard,
brought jointly against undertakings which have
participated in different places and at different times in
a single and continuous infringement, which has been
established by a decision of the Commission, of the
prohibition of anti-competitive agreements, decisions
and concerted practices provided for under EU law,
even where the applicant has withdrawn its action
against the sole co-defendant domiciled in the same
State as the court seised, unless it is found that, at the
time the proceedings were instituted, the applicant and
that defendant had colluded to artificially fulfil, or
prolong the fulfilment of, that provision’s
applicability.”
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Mr Moser points out that in the Akze Nobel case there was a finding that the
requirement that there was the same situation of fact and law was satisfied given
the claim was against six addressee chemical undertakings that had been found
by the Commission to have participated in a single and continuous.infringement
regﬁrding the supply of hydrogen peroxide sodium perborate. He submits that
Akzo Nobel did not address the situation where a non-addressee is to be used as
an anchor defendant for a claim which inch}des other addressees and non-
addressees domiciled in other Member States. - But, by contrast, Mr Robertson
submits that the ruling in Akzo Nobel is appliéable in this case because the
Prysmian addressees and NKT addressees have been found to have participated
in the PoWef Cables Cartel which was a single and continuous infringement of
competition law. For the purposes of these applications, it appears to me that
such participation Decision makes it prop'qu arguable that D3 and D12 should
have foreseen that they might become anchor defendants to a claim against such
addressees brought in England, if they knowingly implemented the cartel. In
other words it is properly- arguable that there would have been a sufficiently

close connection for Article 8(1) RBR to be engaged.

Mr Robertson also submits that a consequence of the ruling in CDC in relation
to “so closely connected” is that if either D3 or D12 is a valid anchor defendant
the claim against the other Defendants can be made. Thus if the claim against

NKT UK was struck out, Prysmvian UK could be a valid anchor against the
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remaining NKT Defendants. Both Ms Demetriou and Mr Moser accepted that

submission for the purpose of these applications. ,

Implementation/Knowledge

53.

54.

For a defendant to be Liable for a cartel damages claim it appears that it must
haye implemented the cartel with knowledge of it. D3 and D12, the UK
Defendants, are sued on the basis of knowing implementation of the Power

Cables Cartel (POC, Paragraphs 45 and 47).

In the context of impleméntation, selling the cartelised product can amount to
implementation. In Cooper Tire & Rubber v Dow Deutschland [2009]
EWHC 2609 (Comm), [2009] 2 CLC 619 at 56 Teare J at first instance said
this as to implementation:

“However, I did not understand the Claimant’s argument to

require the shoe polish subsidiary to be liable in the same way

as the subsidiary which sold BR or ESBR [products the subject
of the cartel]. Indeed, Counsel for the Claimants argued that’
the shoe polish subsidiary would not be so Hable. In my

judgment the shoe polish subsidiary would not be liable. In

order to be liable a subsidiary must be part of the undertaking

which has infringed Article 81. An undertaking ‘covers any

entity engaged in an economic activity’; see Akzo Nobel at

paragraph 54. - There is a good arguable case that the Anchor

Defendants are a part of the undertaking involved in the

economic activity of producing and selling BR 'and ESBR

because they sell those products. The same cannot be said of

the sellers of shoe polish.”

The appeal in that case did not bear on the implementation point. The concept

of implementation may, however, be broader thdn mere sale. In Toshiba
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Carrier v. KME Yorkshire [2011] EWHC 2665 (Ch) at para.49 the then
Vice-Chancellor rejected a submission that a given defendant who acted as an
agent for a disclosed principal would not have been part of the undertaking
found to have infringed Article 101 or to have committed any of the offending
agreements or concerted practices:
“I do not accept that these contentions assuming them to be
proved in due course would absolve KME Yorkshire from
liability under Article 101. It is clear that KME Yorkshire was
a company in the KME Group and engaged in the same
economic undertaking. It is accepted that it sold LWC to one
or more of the claimants. The fact, if it be one, that it did so
only as agent for the second defendant would, at least arguably,
amount to implementation of the agreement or concerted
practice even if it was not contractually liable on the contract
of sale. Contractual liability and implementation of an illegal
- cartel are distinct concepts, In my view, KME Yorkshire has
not shown that the.claim against it does not have a real-chance
"of success.”

There was an unsuccessful appeal in that case and the Court of Appeal did not

doubt the views just cited.

Implementation to any purchaser can give rise to joint and several liability.
Thus the defendant does not need to have sold the cartelised products to a
claimant entity in order to be liable. In e.g. Iiyama v. Samsung Electronics
(LCD) [2016] EWHC 1980 (Ch), [2016} 5 CMLR 16, paragraphs 57 67
identify a real prospect that a given defendant who made sales of the cartelised
product to third parties but not to the claimants, could be held jointly and

severally liable for the cartel.
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57.

In the context of knowledge, there has been some greater controversy in
authorities relevant to strike-out and summary judgment. In Provimi Ltd v.
Aventis: Animal Nutrition [2003] ECC 29 Aikens J (as he then was) was
concerned with vitamin cartel claims and was concerned with the issue of a
claim against _another member of the same group as the cartelist:

“It seems to me to be arguable that where two corporate entities
are part of an ‘udertaking [sic]’ (call it “Undertaking A”) and
one of those entities has entered into an-infringing agreement
with other, independent, “undertakings™, then if another
corporate entity which is part of Undertaking A then
implements that infringing agreement, it is also infringing
Article 81. In my view it is arguable that it is not necessary
to plead or prove any particular “concurrence of wills” between
the two legal entities within Undertaking A. ~ The EU
competition law concept of an ‘undertaking’ is that it is one
economic unit. The legal entities that are part of the one
undertaking, by definition of the concept, have no
independence of mind or action or will. They are to be
regarded as all one. Therefore, so it seems to me, the mind
and will of one legal entity is, for the purposes of Article 81, to
be treated as the mind and will of the other entity. There is no
question of having to ‘impute’ the knowledge or will of one
entity to another, because they are one and the same.”

That Provimi point fell to be considered by the Court of Appeal in Coeper Tire
& Rubber v. Dow Deutschland [2010] EWCA Civ 864, [2010] 2 CL.C 104 at
parad5. On the given appeal, it was decided that the Particulars of Claim
were relevant and sufficiently arguable at-[45]. The appeal had raised issues
about whether claims could be made against another member of the group -of
companies of a cartelist. At P-aragraph 45 Longmore LJ observed:

“As to the Provimi point, we can readily agree that, as Aikens

J said, it is ‘arguable’. We would, however, add that it is also
argnable the other way. Although one can see that a parent
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company should be liable for what its subsidiary has done on
the basis that a parent company is presumed to be. able to
exercise (and actually. exercise) decisive influence over a
subsidiary, it is by no means obvious, even in an Article 81 EC
context, that a subsidiary should be liable for what its parent
does, let alone for what another subsidiary does. Nor does he
Provimi point sit comfortably with the apparent practice of the
Commission, when it exercises its power to fine, to single out
those who are primarily responsible or their parent companies
rather than to impose a fine on all the entities of the relevant:
undertaking.  If, moreover, liability can extend to any
subsidiary company which is part of an undertaking, would
such. liability accrue to a subsidiary which did not deal in
rubber at all, but in another product entirely?”

58.  Inthe Court of Appeal in the Toshiba v. KME Yorkshire Ltd & Ors case, Lord
Justice Etherton giving the leading judgment observed obiter as follows:

“37. The Provimi point does not arisc in the present case
‘because, for the reasons I have given, the respondents
have made a stand-alone claim against KME UK
clearly alleging - that "it participated in, and
implemented, the cartel arrangements with knowledge
of the cartel agreement. Mr Turner accepts that the
respondents must prove KME UK’s knowledge of the
cartel agreement and practices.” Since the point was
argued, however, [ will express my own view that it is
clear that save in a case where the parent company
exercises ‘a decisive influence’ (in the langudage of EU
jurisprudence) over its subsidiary or the same is true of
a non-parent member of the group over another
member, there is no scope for imputation of
knowledge, intent or unlawful conduct.

39.. By contrast, the mere fact that the share capital of two
commercial companies is held by the same person or
the same family is insufficient in itself to establish that

‘those two companies are an economic unit with the
result that for the purposes of Article 101 the actions of
one company can be attributed to the other. That was
expressly held to be the position in Case C-196/99 P
‘Siderurgica Aristrain Madrid SL- v Commission
[2003] ECR 1-11005 at paragraph 99 ... The views
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Mr Robertson cites the expression of the basis on which a legal person can be
liable for breach of competition law made by the Competition Appeal Tribunal
in Sainsbury’s Supermarkets Ltd v. Mastercard Incorporated & Ors [2016]

CAT 11. The judgment of Barling J set out in paragraph 363 the following

matters:

‘expressed by Aikens J in Provimi .predated the
judgment of the ECJ in [Aristrain] and were overtaken
by it.”

“(15) In Aristrain, at Paragraph 99 of its judgment the Court

(16)

21)

of Justice said:

“The simple fact that the share capital of two
separate commercial companies is held by
the same person or the same family is
insufficient, in itself, to establish that those
fwo companies are an economic unit with
the result that, under Community
competition law, the action of one company
can be attributed to the other and that one
can be held liable to pay a fine for the other.’

It is not clear why the Court of Appeal in KME thought
that this decision decided the point against Aikens JI’s
analysis. As the High Court has pointed out in a recent
case, Aristrain decided a rather different point, namely
that simply because separate companies are owned by
the same person or family, they are not ipso facto to be
treated as a single economic unit so that the actions of
one can be attributed to the other. Indeed, if anything,
Aristrain could be said to support the point Aikens J
held to be ‘arguable’ as in paragraph 99. The Court of
Justice does not express the attribution of liability
within a single ‘undertaking’ in terms of
parent/subsidiary, but in more general terms ...

It is certainly tempting to apply the logic relied upon by

‘Master Card, and hold that each and every constituent
person forming part of an ‘undertaking’ should be
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liable for an infringement for which that undertaking is
responsible. Yet as we have seen, the Court of Justice
has not stated the position in such wide terms. Nor in
our view would it be appropriate to go so far. In our
view the current state of the law in this regard is most
clearly expressed in the Advocate Geneéral’s opinion
(endorsed by the Court of Justice) in Case C-231/11P
to C-233/11P, Commission v. Siemens (paragraph
363(8) above).

(22)  On that basis, a legal person may be liable for breach
of competition law:

® Because he, she or it has in some way
participated in that breach, as a part of the single
economic unit or ‘undertaking’ that has
infringed the law; and/or

(i)  Because he, she or it has exercised a decisive
influence over one or more of the persons
within the ‘undertaking’ who have participated
in the infringement,

(23) .On the other hand, in our view a person is not ipso facto
liable for an infringement of Article 101 by reason only
of the fact that he, she or it is a member of an
undertaking responsible as a mattér of EU law for the
infringement, in circumstances where the person in
question neither participated in the infringement nor
had decisive irifluence over the conduct in the relevant
market of other member(s) of the undertaking who did
participate. We appreciate that in such circumstances
it may well be unlikely that the person in question
would in fact be held to be part of that ‘undertaking?.”

Ms Demetriou cites Team Relocations NV v EC [2013] 5 C.M.L.R. 38 at 51
and 53, for approval of points that it must be shown that the undertaking
intentionally contributed to the plan to restrict competition and had awareness

(proved or presumed) of the offending conduct of other participants.
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Cs’ case against D3 and D12 is of implementation in the cartel as part of the
“undertaking” that infringed the law. It accepts that such implementation must

be “knowing”.

D3 is an English domiciled company. From 26 May ZOQS it has been a 100%
subsidiary of D8, one of the addressees of the Commission Decision. There is
a presumption (at least in connection with Commission fines, see paragraph 89
below) that a subsidiary does not determine its own conduct independently of a.
100% parent company and- therefore the two entities are part of a single
undertaking. The evidence in support of Prysmian’s application does not
include anything to rebut that presumption. - On 15 December 2017 C wrote to
Prysmian’s solicitors to enquire about the corporate relationship between D3
and D8 during the earlier period of D8’s involvement in the Power Cables
Cartel. By a statement from Mr Briggs, an in-house Counsel at the Prysmian
group _of_ companies, it is explained that D8 had an “indirect” shareholding
equivalent to 22% in D3 from 27 November 2001 (when D8 was incorporated)
increasing to 39.2% in 2002 and remaining at that level until 26 May 2005 and
that there was one or more overlapping directors between D8 and D3 for all but

two and a half months of that period. In that earlier period D3 and D8 were part

-of the same corporate group. As Mr Robertson submits, there is no evidence

before me that D3 determined its own conduct on the market independently of
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64.

65.

66.

67.

D8 or any other member of the Prysmian corporate group. Indeed, there is
evidence of the sharing of employees and legal support staff between D3, D2

and D8 in that period. It appears to me arguable that D3 was part of the same

undertaking in the earlier period as well as the period in which it was the 100%

subsidiary of DS8.

The POC alleges that D3 implemented the cartel by making sales of Power
Cables P&S to Cs. The clairn relies by reference to the POC, Annex B on seven

invoices.

Mr Moser makes the point that D3 did not sell a single power cable to any C.
In relation to five of the particuiariSed invoices, they relate to resin for.repair
kits on the Thanet Windfarm project. They were supplied during the overhang
period. The other two invoices apply to resistivity testing again in relation to

the Thanet project. Those invoices enly totalled about £8,000 in value.

However, as Mr Robertson submits, there is no value below which a cartel

damages claim may not be brought.

Further, the fact that the particular supplies related to cables supplied by D8

does not appear to make the case on implementation unarguable.

But there are wider points made by Cs against D3.
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D3 is the eighteenth defendant to a claim relating to cable cartel damages
brought by National Grid Electricity Transmission plc. It is claim number HC-
2015-000269 (“the National Grid procéedings”_). D3 is apparently also a-
defendant to a similar Scottish Power claim. It is alleged in the National Grid
proceedings that D3 was at all relevant times engaged or involved, directly or
indirectly, in the manufacture, sale and/or installation of power cables “... for
use in electricity transmission”. In its defence to that claim, Prysmian UK
admits that it was engaged or involved .in, directly or indirectly, the

manufacture, sale and/or installation of power cables. It denies knowing

implementation of the cartel.

The point is made by Cs that there has been no application to strike out the claim
against D3 in the National Grid proceedings, but as Mr Mosér observes the
relevant supplies were in the UK to UK claimants. It does not appear to me
that a decision not to apply to strike out that claﬁn has particular weight against
D3 in the Prysmian Defendants’ application before me, but I do consider it of
moment that other claimants have considered D3 to be part of the
implémentation of the Power Cables Cartel. Further, by letter dated 21
December 2017 from the solicitors for the Prysmian Defendants it is stated that
the National Grid procéedings involve “projects in relation to which there is no
dispute that they were supplied to UK based claimants pursuant to contracts

entered into with Prysmian UK and other UK-domiciled entities within the
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Prysmian group.”. It does appear to me arguable that D3 in selling cartelised

products implemented the cartel.

In relation to D3 , it appears to me arguable as Mr Robertson says that the modest
direct supplies that I have recorded were Power Cables P&S and thus direct
sales 'implementing_ the cartel.  Further, in addition to the modest direct sales
in relation to the Thanet and Ormonde projects within the UK there is evidence
of supply of substantial accessories. In relation to Thanet, D3 supplied through
D8 (the contracting party) accessories with a total value over €1.6 million. In
relation to the Ormonde project, D3 supplied through D2 (the contracting party)
accessories to the total value of almost €2 million. Those are examples of the

indirect supply of services to relevant Cs.

Further, the evidence before me is that a number of UK based personnel were
involved in the Prysmian group’s Power Cables P&S business. A Mr Knowles
who has made statements in support. of the application was-employed by a
subsidiary of D3 (another UK company Pirelli Cables Limited) between 2002
and 2012 and appears to have been involved throughout in the sale of Power
Cables P&S.  He referred to Prysmian UK as the “UK office” in an e-mail
discussing the thermal resistivity testing that was carried out for the Thanet
project. He was also the Sales Manager for the Ormonde project. Further, he
refers in his first witness statement to Vince Barry who had been based in the

UK and had worked in Prysmian’s “centrally run submarine (cable) unit.” He.
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was apparently an employee of D3 between 2003 and 2009. He appears to
have been working on projects within the scope of the Power Cables Cartel
(between 2003 and 2008 land cable systems and from 2008 until 2009

submarine projects). Mr Guy was an Engineer responsible for designing the

-power cable system for the Thanet project and appears to have been emplo§ed

until 2008 under a similar arrangement to that under which Mr Knowles was
employed. Further, D3’s in-house legal Counsel appears to have advised the

Prysmian group and thus D2 and D8 in Italy in relation to the contracts with C8

-and C10 that were governed by English law and related to the Thanet and

Ormonde projects.

Further, as Mr Robertson points out, in a number of invoices of D8, D3 was
identified as D8’s fiscal representative for supplies of Power Cablesl P&S by
D8.. That supply fell within the cartel. A witness for tbe Prysmian Defendants,
Mr Casserta, has considered the references on the invoices a result of a “clerical
error” as D3 does not believe it was in fact appointed D8’s fiscal repres'entative,
but that appears to me an obvious matter for trial. 'I:‘here' is no obvious reason

why D8 would have named D3 as its fiscal representative which would be a

"contact point with HM Revenue and Customs by a non-UK ‘entity that imports

goods into the UK if D3 had no connection to the relevant transactions.

As Mr Robertson points out, in artel damages claims there is stark information

asymmetry between the parties. The' Prysmian involvement in the Power
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Cables Cartel was secret. Since no disclosure exercise has yet been conducted,
Cs only have access to the information that Prysmian has chosen to reveal and
which is limited to dealings with Cs. Mr Robertson points out the redaction in
the Commission Decision of the identity of relevant individuals involved in the

Power Cables Cartels.

As a rather discrete point, the Prysmian Defendants have been alleging that the
POC: invoices do not relate to D5 and thus it is not linked by invoices to
implementation of the cartel. However, on 7 Februai'y 2018 (thus at the very
eleventh hour) Cshave produced a German invoice which may shc;w that D5

may have made a relevant supply.

In relation to the knowledge of D3 relating to implgmentation in the Power

‘Cables Cartel, ] have already noted its ownership by D8, an addressee, from 25

August 2005 and its partial ownership by D8 and the overlapping of directors

in earlier times. I accept Mr Robertson’s submission that in a cartel damages

‘claim Cs have difficulty at the outset of the claim to plead relevant knowledge

with particularity. The claim here was issued i the light of the summary of
the Commission Decision and D8 being an addressee together with the joinder
of D3 in the National Grid proceedings. Mr Robertson submits, and I accept,
that Cs may not be able to more fully particularise the knowledge until there is
d_isclosure of contemporaneous documents or access to the unredacted decision.

In the latter context, he has explained the practice in cartel damages claims for
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a confidentiality ring to be established with the Judge and lawyers relating to
the unredacted decision. The Prysmian Defendants have not persuaded me that
Cs have no reasonable prospect of establishing both knowledge as well as

implementation in the case of D3.

NKT, D12, was 'inco'fporated on 23 August 2004. Between then and 17
February 2008, the end of the period in respect of which the NKT Defendants
are sued, NKT, D1 2,was a 50% indirect subsidiary of D9, one of the addressees
of the Cominission 'De‘cision, which found that D9 participated in the Power
Cables Cartel until 17 February 2006. The other 50% share in NKT UK was
owned by Ericsson Network Technologies AB. Mr Scott has filed a statement
on behalf of the NKT Defendants. He was a former employee of D13 (NKT
Denmark). He explains that D12 “allowed NKT to have a permanent presence
inthe UK ... v'vhi-ch I thought would be beneficial at the time in building NKT"s
presence and reputation 1n ﬂ"lC .1(.)ca1 market.” In the National Grid proceedings
it is admitted by D12 that “It provided occasional administrative and marketing
support to [D13] in connection with the latter’s sales of power cables.” The
position of NKT was therefore that its role was to support the activities
undertaken by other members of the NKT group rather than pursue an

independent commercial strategy of its own. It appears to me arguablé that
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NKT UK was part of a single undertaking with the rest of the NKT corporate

group.

The admission in the National Grid proceedings of the provision of “occasional
administrative and marketing support” in connection with sales of Power Cables
P&S is an initial reason for Cs alleging _irhplementation of the Power Cables
Cartel byit. Mr Scott has further explained that employees of NKT UK would
“fulfil a customer liaison/informational role. They would support customers,
bea ﬁhysical presence in the market and pass on any market information they
gleaned in the course of their duties.” That evidence does, in my view, as Mr
Robertson submits, show that D12 was directly involved in dealing on behalf
of other members of the NKT corporate group with purchasers. of cartelised
products and services. D12 has n(;t provided full details of its precise role or
documentary evidence substantiating its case as to the functions that it
undertook in the relevant period. As already noted from the Toshiba Carrier
case, a defendant does not need to be contractually liable for a sale of a
cartelised product in order for a claim against it to have a teal prospect of

success.
In relation to implementation, Ms Demetriou makes the forcible point in

relation to the evidence of Mr Scott that D12 was not involved in sales outside

the UK and did not in the UK sell directly or indirectly cartel products.
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She further argues that the provision of administrative support does not amount
to selling cartelised products and would not amount to an agreement to restrict

competition.

But it appears to'me that at present in the absence of access. to the unrédacted
Commission Decision and disclosure that the activities of D12 and the question
of whether they could amount to implementation of the cartel remains a relevant
issue. D12 has not satisfied me at this point that Cs have no reasonable prospect

of showing implementation by D12.

Ms Demetriou contends that the reliance of Mr Robertson on the fact that D12
isa defendant to other proceediﬁgs such as the National Grid proceedings and
has not sought a strike out in those proceedings is a hopeless argument for
implementation (it denies implementation in those other p;‘Oceedings)." She
makes the point that in the National Grid and other such proceedings the
damage alleged was suffered in the UK and that had D12 successfully brought
a strike out application in those proceedings that would not have affected the
question of juri.sdiction or the size of the claim. But again it appears to me of
moment that other Claimants have involved D12 in proceedings alleging

implementation of the cartel.
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I am not satisfied on the application before me that D12’s activities ‘were
equivalent to the sale of “boot polish” that had nothing to do with implementing

the cartel.

In relation to knowledge, Ms Demetriou makes the first point that Mr
Henderson, in filing evidence for Cs before me in relation for example to D12’s
involvement in the National Grid (and other) cartel proceedings, does not

address knoWiedge. That is so.

Ms Demetriou contends that Mr Robertson is not entitled in connection with

' knoWledge to rely on the Provimi point, namely that it is not necessary to prove

any particular concurrence of the will of D12 with that of NKT addressees. The
obiter dicta that I have cited from the Court of Appeal'.‘in the Toshiba case
strongly suggests that the knowledge of the addressee could not be imputed to
D12 as a 50% subsidiary. The Sainsbmy’s v. Mastercard judgment does
clearly suggest that it would be for Cs to prove that D12 participated in the

breach of competition law.

But I understand Cs’ case through Mr Robertson is of implementation and

. implementation with knowledge. For the reasons that I have been seeking to

explain, I do not consider that in the absence of consideration of the unredacted

Decision of the Commission and disclosure that I should be satisfied that there
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is no reasonable prospect of success of the claim against D12 and thus making

it an anchor Defendant.

In relation to the question of the unredacted version of the éommission
Decision and in reply, Ms Demetriou sought and was given permission by me
to file a further witness statement confirming that no employee or officer of
D12 was mentioned in the unredacted version of the Commission Decision and
that D12 itself is not mentioned in it.. But the unredacted version will probably
lead to enquiry as to any relevant involVemen.t of named NKT employees or
officers. But even assuming no relevant involvement in that regard, it may beg

what may emerge from proper relevant disclosure. I consider it can at this stage

reasonably be expected that documents may emerge that may show assistance

by D12 in relevant implementation and knowledge of cartel activities.

It is correct that Cs have had less allegations currently to make in respect of the
impleinentation or knowledge relevant to the cartel against D12 than they have
against D3. The case can be said to be weaker against it. Unsurprisingly Ms
Demetriou and Mr Moser decided that Ms Demetriou should lead off the
applicatibns insofar as they related to facts relevant to implementation and
knowlédge. Nonetheless, on reviewing matters I am not satisfied at this stage
that there is no basis whatsoever for Cs alleging that D12 can be an anchor

Defendant.
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Further, and as T observed to Ms Demetriou in closing, it is not obvious to me
how NKT Defendants generally would benefit from a strike out or summary

judgment where D12 is concerned, should D3 remain an anchor Defendant.

Finnish Reference

Since I reserved judgment and on 28 Frbruary 2018 and 05 March 2018, Ms
Demetriou’s solicitors on Eehalf of the Prysmian as well as the NKT
Defendants, have through e-mails to my Clerk referred me to a reference that
has been made by the Finnish Supreme Court to the European Court. As I
understand the communication, a Finnish Court is considering an application
for cartel damages against parent companies (Skanska Industrial Solutions OY
and others) where the parents on acquiring asphalt cartelist subsidiaries had
dissolved them. The issue apparently relates to whether the parent companies

could be liable for the activities of the cartelists before dissolution. The

‘reference seeks a preliminary ruling in relation to matters which include

questions as to whether determination of liability should be determined: by
applying Article 101 TFEU directly or on the basis of national provisions and
a question of whether EU requirements of effectiveness precludes an
interpretation of a Member State’s domestic law making it a- condition of
compensation for damage that the dissolution of a cartelist should have been
implemented unlawfully or artificially in order to avoid lability for

compensation for damage under compensation law. As to knowledge, it
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appears that Finnish law may have sought at the lowest proof that the defendant
ought to have known of the competition infringement when implemeﬂting the
relevant transformation which led to the dissolution of the cartelist. The second
question referred relates to whether -when determining liability for
compensation_ on the basis of Article 101 TFEU the same principles are to be
applied as the CJEU has applied to determine parties’ liability in cases
concerning penalty payments “in accordance with which liability may be found
in particular on belonging to the same economic unit or on economic

continuity?”

Before me, there was common ground’ that a pé:rent could be presumed to be

liable for damages for which its cartelist subsidiary is liable, The NKT and

"Prysmian Defendants’ point was that the presumption would not work the other

way round, thus that a subsidiary could not be presumed to influence its parent

or another subsidiary.

Those representing the Cs have not sought to comment on the Finnish

Reference.
In my judgment, it has been too late where the applications before me are

concerned to take in effect a point that in relation to damages there should be

no presumption relating to-the participation or knowledge of a parent. The
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parties will doubtless have to consider to what extent the outstanding reference

should stay progress in this claim.

93.  Further, for my part, any consideration of referring questions to the EU Court
would more sensibly arise only once relevant facts have been found that give

reason for doubt as to their relevant legal consequence.

Conclusion

94.  For the reasons I have sought to explain, I dismiss the applications before me.
As indicated when teserving judgment, I shall deal on paper with applications
relating to costs and permission to appeal. In context, I would expect concurrent
submissions within 10 clear days of notification of the handing down of this
judgment: At thesame time, I would expect counsel to have drafted an order

_(into which I can insert my decisions on costs) for my approval or to have drawn

my attention as to any issues relating to the order, which I need to resolve.

95, In directing concurrent submissions, I have not acceded to a suggestion by Mr
Moser by email on 14 June 2018, that there should be sequential submissions.
Should I consider on sight of concurrent submissions, that I need further input

from any party, I shall seek it on paper.

Approved Judgment

47



I direct that pursuant to CPR PD 3A para 6.1, no official shorthand note shall be taken-
‘of this judgment and that copies of this judgment as handed down shall be treated as
authentic. '

(signed) ANTHONY ELLERAY QC
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